Boundaries within the counselling professions



Good Practice in Action 110 Fact Sheet

Boundaries within the counselling professions

Good Practice in Action 110

Fact Sheet

Copyright information:

Updated March 2023

Good Practice in Action 110 Fact Sheet: *Boundary issues in the counselling professions* is published by the British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy, BACP House, 15 St John's Business Park, Lutterworth, Leicestershire, LE17 4HB.

T: 01455 883300 **E:** bacp@bacp.co.uk www.bacp.co.uk

BACP is the largest professional organisation for counselling and psychotherapy in the UK, is a company limited by guarantee 2175320 in England and Wales, and a registered charity, 298361.

Copyright © 2019-23 British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy.

BACP and the BACP logo are registered trade marks of BACP.

Permission is granted to reproduce for personal and educational use only. Commercial copying, hiring and lending are prohibited.

Design by Steers McGillan Eves.

Contents

Context		4
Purpose		4
Using Fact Sheet resources		4
Introduction		5
1	Definition of boundaries in counselling	5
2	The important boundaries in counselling	6
	2.1 Location, time and number of sessions	6
	2.2 Confidentiality	7
	2.3 Out-of-session contact	7
	2.4 Self-disclosure	7
	2.5 Touch	8
	2.6 Social media and working with a client online	8
	2.7 Fees	9
	2.8 Gifts	9
	2.9 Dual relationships	9
3	Equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI)	10
4	When boundaries are broken	12
5	Supervision	12
Summary		13
About the author		14
References		14
Further reading:		

Boundaries within the counselling professions

Context

This resource is one of a suite, prepared by BACP, to enable members to engage with BACP's *Ethical Framework for the Counselling Professions* in respect of boundaries.

Purpose

The purpose of this resource is to stimulate ethical thinking when considering boundaries.

Using Fact Sheet resources

The membership agreement with BACP establishes a contractual commitment by members to abide by the *Ethical Framework for the Counselling Professions*, which includes a responsibility for members to keep the skills and knowledge relevant to their work up to date.

The BACP Good Practice in Action (GPiA) resources are solely intended to support good practice by offering general information on specific topics based on legal principles and policy applicable at the time of writing. They are intended for information purposes only and are not a substitute for professional advice. BACP and the author accept no responsibility for and accept no liability as a result of any person acting or refraining from acting on the basis of the GPiA resources.

Practice issues and dilemmas are often complex, and may vary depending on clients, particular models of working, the context of the work and the therapeutic interventions provided. We therefore strongly recommend consulting your supervisor, and also, wherever necessary, a suitably qualified practitioner or lawyer. Some professional insurers will provide legal advice as part of their service.

BACP and the author make no representation or warranty as to the completeness or accuracy of the information contained in the GPiA resources. References in this resource were up to date at the time of writing but there may be changes in particular to the law, government departments, government policies and guidance, websites and web addresses. Organisations and agencies may also change their practice or policies, so please be alert for any changes that may affect your therapy practice.

In this resource, the terms 'practitioner' and 'counselling related services' are used generically in a wider sense, to include the practice of counselling, psychotherapy, coaching and pastoral care. The terms 'therapist' or 'counsellor' are used to refer to those trained specifically as psychotherapists and counsellors.

Introduction

This resource is to aid practitioners and trainee practitioners to identify the boundaries that need to be established in a therapeutic and relationships. It should be read in conjunction with Good Practice in Action 111 Clinical Reflections for Practice: *Boundaries within the counselling professions*.

1 Definition of boundaries in counselling

Boundaries provide the framework for the therapeutic relationship within which the work takes place. They can include, practical matters such as working space, session length, gifts, fees, confidentiality, between-session contact, social media policy and duration or number of sessions. They can also include interpersonal issues regarding the relationship that is offered including the model of counselling used, dual relationships, self-disclosure, touch, non-professional relationships, and practitioner competence. Boundaries can enable your clients to feel safely held and promote trust by showing clearly what the purpose of the relationship is, and what the client can expect from you.

It is the practitioner's responsibility to hold the boundaries and to ensure clarity for clients. All members of BACP are committed to '...agree with clients how we will work together' (*Ethical Framework*, Commitment 3c).

We also commit to providing clients with information so that they can make informed decisions about the services they want to receive (see Good Practice, point 30).

This information needs to give a clear indication of the boundaries within which the client and practitioner will work.

If clients are clear about what to expect from the practitioner and the therapy, then they are more likely to be able to engage with the process. Also, practitioners are less open to manipulation (either conscious or unconscious) and more able to enter into a working relationship. You can find out more about making the contract within Good Practice in Action 039 Commonly Asked Questions and GPiA 055 Fact Sheet: *Making the contract*.

2 The important boundaries in counselling

How practitioners define specific details of boundaries will vary according to the particular context, counselling methodology and client base that the practitioner works with. Some boundaries are imposed by organisational policy, or legal obligation (such as data protection and safeguarding), others (such as contact between sessions or boundaries of time and space) will be developed in line with the practitioner's particular context and with a commitment to the ethical values and principles set out in the *Ethical Framework*. Although not an exhaustive list, thought would usually be given to:

2.1 Location, time and number of sessions

It is vital to be clear about the length and frequency of the sessions, whether the work is to be time-limited or open-ended, and when and where the counselling sessions will take place, and what will happen if you are unable to continue working with the client, or the client wants to cancel a session.

Clarity over these practical points may reduce the client's feeling of vulnerability and help them to feel safe within the process. Transparency helps to provide a clear framework in which the therapeutic relationship can grow.

For an example of how unclear practical boundaries can affect the therapeutic relationship, please see vignette 2.3 in GPiA 111 Clinical Reflections for Practice: *Boundaries* where Sarah not keeping firm time boundaries leaves Ffion feeling that Sarah was '...not bothered about her'.

Where possible, the practitioner should give the client notice that they are taking leave. It is also important to agree what contact may be possible during their leave. Working with a client towards an agreed ending is good practice, however, there are some circumstances where it is not possible for the client or therapist to give notice with regards to taking leave or ending therapy. How to manage these circumstances are discussed in Fact Sheets: GPiA 072 *Unplanned endings*, and also GPiA 104 *Clinical wills and digital legacies*.

With regard to online or telephone therapy sessions boundaries should be put in place so a safe virtual platform is used for the session, and both the client and practitioner are speaking in a safe confidential space. For an example of when practical boundaries in virtual therapy can affect work with a client please refer to clinical vignette 2.1 in GPiA 111 Clinical Reflections for Practice: *Boundaries*.

2.2 Confidentiality

Counsellors have a duty to keep client confidentiality through not discussing or sharing client information inappropriately and by storing client data securely and according to the law. It is important to ensure clients understand the limits to confidentiality and when confidentiality might need to be broken. Circumstances where confidentiality needs to be broken should be outlined in the contract and discussed with the client at the initial session. Confidentiality might be broken if the client is in danger or if they are placing someone else in danger, the law requires information or when sharing information with other professionals. You can find more information about confidentiality in GPiA 014 Legal Resource: *Managing confidentiality*, and in the *Ethical Framework* Good Practice, points 33a-g.

2.3 Out-of-session contact

Some practitioners might offer clients communication between sessions, either for a fee, or as part of the service. This maybe via e-mail, text message or on the telephone. It is important that any between-session contact is discussed and that it is realistic. It is also important that practitioners think about how to keep personal and professional communications separate, as blurred boundaries can cause problems. (See vignette 2.1 in GPiA 111 Clinical Reflections for Practice: Boundaries, which shows the complications for Malee arranging an appointment for a client in an agency setting on a personal messaging site.) Any change in contact between sessions needs to be discussed and managed in a sensitive manner. Contact between sessions also needs to be recorded in the client's notes. The client and therapist should agree about contact after the therapy sessions have ended.

2.4 Self-disclosure

It is important to think about the purpose of self-disclosure within the therapeutic relationship. Used appropriately, self-disclosure can lead to depth in the relationship.

However, if it is used inappropriately it can be confusing or hurtful, or shift the focus away from the client, and cross the boundary between personal and professional.

2.5 Touch

Therapists might offer some forms of touch as part of the therapy, but this would depend on the model of therapy being offered, and the client agreeing. In some humanistic therapies, non-sexual contact, such as hugging, may be regarded as acceptable, whereas in other psychodynamic therapies, it could be regarded as crossing a boundary. (Muller, 2017)

Any intervention involving touch needs to be managed carefully. It is important to talk about touch with the client; ask their permission and to discuss the therapeutic purpose and meaning with them. This helps to avoid misunderstandings and ensure safety.

2.6 Social media and working with a client online

It is important that we think about how our professional and personal online presence might impact on the therapeutic relationship. It is necessary that practitioners maintain online boundaries in a way that protects the integrity of the therapeutic relationship and promotes trust.

The Ethical Framework addresses the issue of social media use and advises that:

'reasonable care is taken to separate and maintain a distinction between our personal and professional presence on social media where this could result in harmful dual relationships with clients' (BACP, 2018).

It is not good practice to follow or search for clients online, to accept 'friend' requests from clients on personal social media accounts, and to post about clients online without the client's informed consent. Clients will need to be given information about exactly what will be shared, and the possible consequences for them.

However, clients will often search for information about their therapists online; it is important therefore to think carefully before posting information into public forums. For example, would you want your clients to read a blog giving intimate personal details about you or your family?

If a practitioner and client are working online, the boundaries should be agreed in the first meeting, and will need to include protocols for this. More details regarding working with clients online are found in GPiA 047. Working online requires additional skills, you can find details of the competence required at: www.bacp.co.uk/events-and-resources/ethics-and-standards/competences-and-curricula/telephone-and-e-counselling.

2.7 Fees

These should be discussed when the client first makes contact with the therapist. It is important to be clear about how much the sessions cost, the methods of payment that are accepted and when the sessions should be paid for, and what will happen if the client does not (or cannot) pay.

For example, if your client misses a session because of illness, will they be expected to pay? If your client loses their job and cannot afford to pay, what will you do?

2.8 Gifts

Clients may wish to offer their practitioner a gift during, or at the end of therapy. Some therapists may choose not to accept gifts from their clients, or only accept small gifts, therefore it is important to make their policy about accepting gifts clear at the start of therapy to prevent a client feeling rejected if a gift is refused. For an example of how the giving of gifts might affect a client, please refer to vignette 2.4 in GPiA 111 Clinical Reflections for Practice: *Boundaries* to see how counsellor Tim faces difficulties after accepting a coffee from his client Pablo who interprets this as a symbol of friendship.

2.9 Dual relationships

When a client and practitioner or supervisor and supervisee are involved in another relationship outside of the therapy room, these are referred to as dual relationships. Examples of these are:

- A family/friend connection
- Same religious congregation, shared group, hobby or club
- Neighbours
- A business or college colleague
- Has other responsibilities such as line management
- Online interaction, e.g. social media.

An example of how a dual relationship infringes boundaries is given in vignette 2.2 in GPiA 111 Clinical Reflections for Practice: *Boundaries*.

The Ethical Framework states:

'...any dual or multiple relationships will be avoided where the risks of harm to the client outweigh any benefits to the client.' (Good Practice, point 33b).

Avoiding multiple relationships can be particularly difficult within small communities and in settings where members may have multiple roles. Discussion in supervision and using an ethical decision-making model can help to ensure ethical and responsible decisions are made that minimise the risk of any dual relationship to both clients and therapist.

The Ethical Framework commits members to not having `...sexual relationships with, or behave sexually towards our clients, supervisees or trainees' (Good Practice, point 34), and this extends (apart from exceptional circumstances) also to ex-clients or people close to our clients (see Good Practice, points 36-37). Conflicts of interest and issues of power or dependence may continue after our working relationship with a client, supervisee or trainee has ended. A practitioner making physical sexual advances to a client may constitute not only grounds for complaint under BACP's Professional Conduct procedure but may also, in some circumstances, be a criminal offence.

3 Equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI)

Diversity is the presence of particular differences, or characteristics, between individuals in a group of people or a society. The 2010 Equality Act sets out nine protected characteristics and if you are an employer, or offering services to the public – for example offering therapy within a private practice, you may not discriminate against people on the grounds of:

- · sex and gender
- · gender reassignment
- sexual orientation
- disability
- race
- · religion and belief
- age
- marriage and civil partnership
- pregnancy and maternity.

Good Practice in Action 110 Fact Sheet

Boundaries within the counselling professions

Equality is the principle that every person should be treated fairly and equally. This is an important value in therapy. The *Ethical Framework* highlights that we have a duty to demonstrate equality and respect diversity in our interactions with clients and we must uphold these values also in relation to our colleagues. Equality, however, is more than just doing the same thing for everyone, it is about understanding the individual's particular culture, or access needs, in order to work effectively.

For example, rigid boundaries on not physically touching clients may be inappropriate for a client with a disability who may need you to touch them in order to guide them to your consulting room, or to sit close to them so that they can lip-read. A client from a different cultural background, however, may find sitting too close, or touching inappropriate. Agreeing in advance with clients what would be helpful to them and maintaining these agreed boundaries, are vital in ensuring a fair service is provided.

People have the right to the same level of service, and developing an inclusive therapeutic practice means ensuring that the boundaries agreed do not exclude people, particularly those with the protected characteristics shown above. However, inclusivity and our commitment through the *Ethical Framework* (Good Practice, point 23) means that we need to go beyond the legal minimum and ensure the boundaries we agree with our clients are respectful and appropriate for their particular needs.

For example, we may have a boundary around times of sessions (all clients will meet with us for 50 minutes), how appropriate would this be, however, for a client with a life-limiting illness, who could only concentrate for 20 minutes at a time, or someone with an interpreter who may need longer sessions to ensure you are able to communicate with each other effectively?

Virtual or telephone therapy sessions allow therapy to be offered to a more diverse population and eliminate some of the practical issues that people face when trying to access therapy. Virtual therapy sessions open up possibilities for practitioners to work with a more diverse client group. When working with virtual clients practitioners might encounter wider cultural differences.

Practitioners need to be aware of the issues that might arise and present them in supervision so they can find inclusive ways of working with virtual clients. It is also important to be aware that clients might have issues accessing technology.

4 When boundaries are broken

If boundaries are crossed or blurred, ethical dilemmas will arise, and this can be unsettling and unsafe for both the practitioner and the client. When this happens, the practitioner has an ethical duty (*Ethical Framework*, Good Practice, point 52) to:

- inform their client of anything that places them at risk of harm, or causes them harm (whether or not they are aware of what has occurred)
- · take immediate action to prevent or limit any harm
- · offer an apology when this is appropriate
- discuss the situation in supervision.

When appropriate, it may also be important to inform:

- · their organisational manager
- if a trainee, their course provider
- their professional indemnity insurer and BACP.

Seeking help from a more senior practitioner at the earliest possible time helps to ensure that any harm to the client can be kept to a minimum.

Hopefully if the client feels that a boundary has been crossed, they will be able to discuss it with the you and the issue can be resolved.

5 Supervision

Regular supervision is vital in ensuring that the practitioner manages their boundaries and that they work in an ethical manner.

It is the practitioner's ethical responsibility to keep boundaries and to discuss any boundary issues within supervision.

It is the supervisor's role to monitor whether their supervisee is maintaining the boundaries in both their role as a practitioner and as a supervisee.

Boundaries within the counselling professions

The boundaries of the supervision relationship are also discussed within GPiA 077 Dual roles in the counselling professions and in an article by Martin (2018) and also within the suite of resources on supervision, which can be found at: www.bacp.co.uk/ search?q=supervision&SortOrder=0&RecordTypes=GoodPractice.

Boundaries within supervisory relationships can be especially challenging in services where practitioners do not have a choice of supervisor, or where the supervisor has another role in the organisation (for example has line-management responsibilities). They can also be challenging in training situations where the supervisor also has responsibilities in respect of assessing the trainee's practice for their course provider.

Clear contracting at the start of work can help all parties to understand any potential dual roles, raise any concerns and mitigate any harm.

Summary

Practitioners should ensure that they contract carefully with clients setting clear boundaries for therapy so that there is no confusion at any point in their work with clients. If they realise that a boundary has been crossed, they need to discuss this within supervision, and address with the client as soon as possible to avoid causing difficulties in the therapeutic relationship.

Clients should feel able to raise concerns with their therapist, and to know their rights, and feel comfortable acting on those rights if required. Boundaries need to be firm enough for the client to feel safe, but flexible enough to ensure inclusion. If a boundary is crossed, it is important that this is discussed within supervision and that the client is informed of anything that places them at risk of harm.

About the author

Dr Carys Williams is a counselling psychotherapist and independent medical doctor based in Buckhurst Hill (West Essex) and Central London. She has had eight years' training in counselling, psychotherapy and psychiatry with children, adolescents and adults, and she has been practising for nearly 12 years as a counselling psychotherapist and a supervisor.

Carys has worked as a doctor in the NHS in a range of specialties with both children and adults. With respect to psychotherapy, she has worked with clients in schools, universities, the NHS and the private sector. She is the founder of the counselling charity 16 to 25 Support and she was clinical lead for North and Mid Essex MIND. She also supervises therapists and health professionals from the NHS, MIND and within the private sector.

References

BACP (2019, updated 2023) Good Practice in Action 111 Clinical Reflections for Practice: *Boundary issues within the counselling professions*. (Content Ed Warman, E.). Lutterworth: BACP

BACP (2018) Ethical Framework for the counselling professions. Lutterworth: BACP

BACP (2016, updated 2020) Good Practice in Action 072 Commonly Asked Questions: *Unplanned endings within the counselling professions*. (Content Ed Williams, C. Lutterworth: BACP

Jones, T. and Noel, C. (2019) Here and now, this space between us: managing boundaries. *Coaching Today*, April 2019. Lutterworth: BACP

Martyn, S. (2016) Cyberwork: Changing technology, blurring boundaries. *Counselling at Work*, Winter 2015. Lutterworth: BACP

Martin, L. (2018) Thinking about ... supervisee's boundaries. BACP *Children, Young People and Families*, September 2018. Lutterworth: BACP

Mueller, R.T. (2017) A Hands-On Approach to Psychotherapy? *Psychology Today*: www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/talking-about-trauma/201707/hands-approach-psychotherapy. (Accessed 14 October 2019)

Woolfe, R., Strawbridge, S., Douglas, B. and Dryden, W. (2010) *Handbook of Counselling Psychology*. London: Sage.

Further reading:

Counselling Connection: Therapeutic Boundaries. www.counsellingconnection.com/?s=boundaries (accessed 26 February 2023)

Good Therapy. Touch in therapy: Helpful or harmful? One therapist's perspective.

www.goodtherapy.org/blog/touch-in-therapy-helpful-or-harmful-one-therapists-perspective-0629175 (accessed 26 February 2023)

Health Psychology Consultancy (2011) Boundaries in Person-Centred Counselling.

www.goodtherapy.org/blog/touch-in-therapy-helpful-or-harmful-one-therapists-perspective-0629175 (accessed 26 February 2023).